#### NO. 45934-5-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

COURT OF APPEALS
2014 AUG 15 PM 3: 07
STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEANN I. TINNON,

Appellant,

VS.

# WHITE RIVER SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Address: Jacobs & Jacobs 114 E. Meeker Avenue Post Office Box 513 Puyallup, WA 98371 (253) 845-0577 FAX (253) 845-9060 G. Parker Reich, WSBA #35500 Anne R. Vankirk, WSBA #47321 Attorneys for Appellant

##

II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
	a) Assignments of Error
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE4
IV.	ARGUMENT5
	<ol> <li>Whether the trial court erred when it denied the plaintiff's motion for directed verdict and instructing the jury on the issue of comparative fault without a factual basis supported by substantial evidence to put that issue to the jury</li></ol>
	2. Alternatively, if the trial court was correct to give the contributory negligence instruction, whether it should have included plaintiff's proposed Instruction 15 when that instruction explained the juxtaposition of contributory negligence, reasonable reaction time and point of notice
2.	CONCLUSION15

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## Cases

Bellantonio v. Warner, 47 Wn.2d 550, 288 P.2d 459 (1955)9
Bohnsack v. Kirkham, 72 Wn.2d 183, 432 P.2d 554 (1967)8,9
Bowers v. Marzano, 170 Wn. App. 498, 290 P.2d 134 (2012)9,11,13
Channel v. Mills, 77 Wn. App. 268, 890 P.2d 535 (1995)9,10
Christensen v. Royal School Dist. No. 160, 156 Wn.2d 62, 124 P.3d 283 (2005)6
Cote v. Allen, 50 Wn.2d 584, 313 P.2d 693 (1957)7
Gammon v. Clark Equip. Co., 104 Wn.2d 613, 707 P.2d 685 (1985)12
Helman v. Sacred Heart Hosp., 62 Wn.2d 136, 381 P.2d 605 (1963)6
Hughey v. Winthrop Motor Co., 61 Wn.2d 227, 377 P.2d 640 (1963)6
Martin v. Hadenfeldt, 157 Wash. 563, 289 P. 533 (1930)
Poston v. Mathers, 77 Wn.2d 329, 462 P.2d 222 (1969)12,13
Rekhter v. State, Department of Social and Health Services, 86822-1 (2014)12
Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486, 925 P.2d 194 (1996)12
Theonnes v. Hazen, 37 Wn. App. 644, 681 P.2d 1284 (1984)9,12
Tobias v. Rainwater, 71 Wn.2d 845, 431 P.2d 156, 162 (1967)11,12
White v. Peters, 52 Wn.2d 824, 329 P.2d 471 (1958)7
Statutes
RCW 4.22.005

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case arises out of a motor vehicle collision. The appellant, Deann Tinnon, was driving to work in the early hours of the morning when a school bus driven by Mr. David Vawter from the White River School District, Respondent, pulled out in to an intersection and the two vehicles collided. There is dispute between the parties on the issues of fault, speed, and negligence. Both parties agree that Ms. Tinnon was the favored driver and that Mr. Vawter was the disfavored driver. Issues of negligence and contributory negligence were put to the jury and the jury returned a verdict in favor of White River School District.

The heart of the question in this case is: how did the issue of contributory negligence affect the outcome? First, Ms. Tinnon argues that the issue of contributory negligence should never have been put before the jury in the first place because it was not supported, in whole or in part, by substantial evidence. In order to receive the instruction on contributory negligence, the party seeking it has the burden of proof to show that the standard negligence elements—duty, breach, proximate cause, and damages—have been met. In this case, Ms. Tinnon contends that there is not substantial evidence of breach of duty via exceeding the speed limit, and even if the Court finds otherwise, there is no substantial evidence that Ms. Tinnon's speed was a proximate cause of the collision.

Additionally, Ms. Tinnon argues that even if the trial court was correct to place the issue of contributory negligence before the jury, the court failed to instruct the jury properly on the law governing contributory negligence. Ms. Tinnon offered, and the trial court refused to give, an instruction stating that, as the favored driver, she was allowed a reasonable reaction time after she knew that Mr. Vawter was not going to yield.

Both errors would be devastatingly prejudicial to Ms. Tinnon's claims and theory of her case, and either error should be grounds for a new trial.

The Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings was not numbered. In an effort to create a consistent numbering set, the following volume numbers have been assigned to the transcripts:

RP I - January 21, 2014, pp. 1-33

RP II - January 22 and 23, 2014, pp. 1-125

RP III - January 21 and 28, 2014, pp. 1-79

RP IV - January 28, 2014, pp. 1-14

RP V - January 28, 2014, pp. 1-24

RP VI - January 28 and 29, 2014, pp. 1-14

RP VII - January 29, 2014, pp. 1-19

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

### a) Assignments of Error

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1: The trial court erred in instructing the jury on contributory negligence because that instruction was not supported by substantial evidence.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2: The trial court erred when it denied the plaintiff's motion for directed verdict on the issue of contributory fault.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 3: The trial court erred when it refused to submit Plaintiff's proposed instruction 15 which would have fully informed the jury of the duties of the favored driver.

#### b) Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

ISSUE 1: Whether the trial court erred when it denied the plaintiff's motion for directed verdict and instructing the jury on the issue of comparative fault without a factual basis supported by substantial evidence to put that issue to the jury. (ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1) (ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 2)

ISSUE 2: Alternatively, if the trial court was correct to give the contributory negligence instruction, whether it should have included plaintiff's proposed Instruction 15 when that instruction explained the juxtaposition of contributory negligence, reasonable reaction time, and point of notice.

(ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 3)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a motor vehicle collision that occurred on 14th day of May, 2008. Deann Tinnon, Appellant, was driving southbound on A.P. Tubbs Road East, approaching 157th Street East in Buckley, Pierce County, Washington. CP 1-2. David Vawter, who was employed by White River School District (hereinafter White River), Respondent, was driving a school bus eastbound on 157th Street East, controlled by a stop sign, and executed a left turn onto A.P. Tubbs Road East. CP 1-2. There is conflicting testimony as to whether or not the Mr. Vawter could have, or should have, seen Ms. Tinnon prior to entering the intersection of 157th Street and A.P. Tubbs Road. Ms. Tinnon collided with the school bus sustaining damage to her vehicle and her person. *See generally*, RP III, IV.

Ms. Tinnon passed through sharp "S" curves that inherently limit speed prior to entering the final stretch of roadway prior to impact with the bus. RP III, p. 18, ll. 18-23; p. 16, ll. 16-20; and p. 18, ll. 18-23. Ms. Tinnon also testified to witnessing the school bus stop and then proceed through the intersection well after she had rounded the corner, but she could not place the exact spot where she was when she realized the bus was not going to stop. RP III, p. 18, ll. 10-17.

Q: But when the bus pulled out, do you know for sure that you were up around the corner? A: Yes. Q: And do you know for certain that you actually were able to see the bus pull up to the intersection and stop? A: Yes. Q: And you were able to observe the bus stop and then pull out in front of you, correct? A: Yes. Q:

Is it then just where on that particular road you were, whether you were halfway or whatever, is that just where you were on the road when the bus pulled out and you can't be sure? A: No, I can't be positive. I know I was past the corner.

RP III, p. 20, ll. 19 to p. 21, l. 7.

Q: So you slammed on the clutch and the brake? A: Yes. Q: Do you have a specific memory of that? A: Yes.

RP III, p. 21, l. 25 to p. 22, ll. 1-3.

A: I believe the first thing I did was slam on my brake and the clutch. I reacted as fast as I could. Q: When you slammed on the brakes, did your car slow down at all before the car ran into the bus? A: I believe so, but there wasn't a whole lot of time.

RP III, p. 60, ll. 10-14.

At the end of trial, Ms. Tinnon moved for directed verdict on the issue of contributory fault and the trial court denied the motion. RP VI, p. 4, l. 23 to p. 12, l. 20. The jury returned a verdict for the White River on January 30, 2014. CP 84. Judgment on the verdict was entered on February 14, 2014. CP 88-89. Ms. Tinnon timely filed a notice of appeal on February 25, 2014. CP 86.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse and remand this case for a new trial because the trial court erred when it allowed the defendant to introduce the issue of contributory negligence to the jury without support of substantial evidence and that error prejudiced Ms. Tinnon. Alternatively, even if there was substantial

evidence to support a finding of contributory negligence, the trial court erred when it failed to instruct the jury of the relevant duties of the favored driver.

1. The trial court erred when it denied the Ms. Tinnon's motion for directed verdict and instructing the jury on the issue of comparative fault without a factual basis supported by substantial evidence to put that issue to the jury.

Negligence has four elements: (1) existence of a duty, (2) breach of that duty, (3) an injury resulting from the breach, and (4) proximate causation. *Christensen v. Royal School Dist. No. 160*, 156 Wn.2d 62, 66, 124 P.3d 283 (2005). "A comparison of fault for any purpose under RCW 4.22.005 through RCW 4.22.060 shall involve consideration of both the nature of the conduct of the parties to the action and the extent of the causal relation between such conduct and the damages." RCW 4.22.015. "Contributory negligence is an affirmative defense and the burden of proving it rests on the defendant." *Hughey v. Winthrop Motor Co.*, 61 Wn.2d 227, 229, 377 P.2d 640 (1963).

a. <u>Contributory negligence must be supported by substantial</u> evidence.

Substantial evidence is evidence "sufficient. . . to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of a declared premise." *Helman v. Sacred Heart Hosp.*, 62 Wn.2d 136, 147, 381 P.2d 605 (1963). Substantial evidence is a higher bar than a "mere scintilla" of evidence. *Id*.

The Washington Supreme Court has consistently ruled on the requirement of substantial evidence in order to give a contributory negligence instruction. The early cases outlined a need of **some** showing of evidence to support the defendant's theory of the case. *See eg.*, *Cote v. Allen*, 50 Wn.2d 584, 313 P.2d 693 (1957) ("While every party is entitled to have the jury instructed upon his theory of the case, that rule presupposes evidence to support such theory."). In a later case, the Court found that, although there was some evidence of drinking and the plaintiff's knew the driver had a significant limp, this knowledge did not amount to **substantial evidence** of the passenger's knowledge of the driver's inability to control his vehicle. *White v. Peters*, 52 Wn.2d 824, 827, 329 P.2d 471 (1958) ("It is prejudicial error for the trial court to submit an issue to the jury when there is no substantial evidence concerning it.").

Here, the only "evidence" of speeding is the speed calculations by an expert who based his entire set of calculations off of the Mr. Vawter's statement that he did not see Ms. Tinnon. Thus, the only actual evidence of Ms. Tinnon's speed as presented by White River is that the driver of the bus did not see her prior to the impact. Even in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, simply stating that he did not see her is not enough. This is not substantial evidence on which reasonable minds could differ; rather, it is a mere scintilla.

b. Even if the Court finds that there was substantial evidence of speeding, that finding alone is not enough to give the contributory negligence instruction.

A finding of possible speeding alone does not support the instruction of contributory negligence. In examining whether to allow the contributory negligence instruction to go in front of the jury in a remanded case, the Washington Supreme Court analyzed all claims of contributory negligence under two prongs: "(1) whether there is evidence upon which reasonable minds could differ on the question of whether [plaintiff] exercised reasonable care; and (2) whether there is substantial evidence that such negligence, if it existed or could be found to have existed, proximately contributed to causing the accident." *Bohnsack v. Kirkham*, 72 Wn.2d 183, 191, 432 P.2d 554 (1967). This means that even if there is substantial evidence of Ms. Tinnon's speed, there must also be substantial evidence that the her speed contributed to causing the accident.

"Every driver has the right to assume that other users of the highway will obey the traffic laws and rules of the road." *Martin v. Hadenfeldt*, 157 Wash. 563, 567, 289 P. 533 (1930). "A favored driver who has done nothing to confuse or deceive a disfavored driver is entitled to assume that the latter will yield the right of way." *Id.* "The favored driver may rely upon this assumption until he becomes aware, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have become aware, that the right of way will not be yielded." *Id.* "At the exact instant when the favored driver sees or should see that the disfavored driver will not yield the right-of-way, 'a

reasonable reaction time must be allotted' the favored driver to avoid a collision." *Bellantonio v. Warner*, 47 Wn.2d 550, 553, 288 P.2d 459 (1955).

This critical moment has been labeled by this Court as the "point of notice." *Bowers v. Marzano*, 170 Wn. App. 498, 290 P.2d 134 (2012)<sup>1</sup> ("To show proximate cause, [the party claiming negligence] must produce evidence from which the trier of fact can infer the favored driver's approximate point of notice."); *Theonnes v. Hazen*, 37 Wn. App. 644, 681 P.2d 1284 (1984). The burden is on the defendant to produce evidencethat Ms. Tinnon had sufficient time after the point of notice to avoid the collision. Here, similar to *Bohnsack*, no evidence at all was presented by White River regarding reasonable point of notice and a failure to apply the brakes in a careful and prudent manner to avoid collision. 72 Wn.2d at 192.

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Ms. Tinnon was speeding at the time of the collision, there is no substantial evidence demonstrating that her speed was the proximate cause of the collision. The speed of a favored driver is **irrelevant** unless it prevents the favored driver, between the point of notice and the point of impact, from avoiding a collision. Even more specifically, the point of notice is not the first time the favored driver sees the disfavored driver -- it is the point at which the favored driver realizes the disfavored driver "will not yield the right of way." *Bellantonio*, 47 Wn.2d at 553. In *Channel v. Mills*, the Court stated that:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This case was originally unpublished but a later motion to publish was granted. *Bowers v. Marzano*, 170 Wn. App. at 513.

A number of cases have said that speed in excess of that permitted by statute or ordinance is not a proximate cause of a collision if the favored driver's automobile is where it is entitled to be, and the favored driver would have been unable to avoid the collision even if driving at a lawful speed. A necessary corollary is that speed is not a proximate cause if it does no more than bring the favored and disfavored drivers to the same location at the same time, and the favored driver has the right to be at that location.

Channel v. Mills, 77 Wn. App. 268, 277-78, 890 P.2d 535 (1995) (emphasis added).

When one party claims that the proximate cause of the accident was the opposing party's speed, there must be a secondary analysis of point of notice. Here, the only evidence of point of notice was given by Ms. Tinnon herself who stated that by the time she saw the bus and went to apply the brakes she impacted the bus. The burden is on White River to produce admissible evidence that demonstrates Deann Tinnon saw or should have seen the bus pull out and had no apparent intention of yielding the right of way early enough for her to react to avoid the collision. White River did not offer any evidence on this issue. Thus, with the evidence presented, reasonable minds could not differ that Ms. Tinnon's speed was not the proximate cause of her impact with the bus.

When ruling on the evidence during a motion for judgment as a matter of law, the judge walked through what he would consider to be reasonable inferences by the jury, but failed to include any evidence of reasonable point of notice in the analysis.

Mr. Lewis testified at various rates of speed how fast you would cover that distance. I think it's a jury question about whether or not at the posted speed limit Mr. Vawter, in the operation of his bus, started from the intersection too early and pulled in front of Ms. Tinnon or not. ...

RP VI, p. 11, II. 13-18.

This is a 40-foot long school bus, that by all accounts is unlikely to perform some kind of jackrabbit start maneuver. ...

RP VI, p. 11, II. 21-24.

Given that, the jury can conclude from the evidence that Ms. Tinnon was driving either inattentively or too fast to react to what would be a reasonable entry into the intersection by the school bus, and that if she was driving at a reasonable rate of speed, she could have seen the bus and stopped before she impacted the bus.

RP VI, p. 11, l. 25 to p. 12, l. 6.

This Court has ruled that you cannot make the "too fast to react" determination without first showing where the reasonable point of notice would have been. *Bowers*, 170 Wn. App. at 506. The only testimony regarding the speed of the bus is from Mr. Lewis who testified that it would take the bus five seconds to move from its stopped location to the point of impact. RP II, p. 42, l. 1 to p. 43, l. 25. While this case is riddled with calculations on speed and reaction times, there is no testimony regarding a reasonable point of notice. *Tobias v. Rainwater*, 71 Wn.2d 845, 431 P.2d 156, 162 (1967) ("(T)he right of way granted to the driver on the right is a strong one and ought not to be lost in the maze of details arising from split-second computation of time and distance."). This leaves the

glaring question: at what point during that five seconds was it reasonable for Ms. Tinnon to observe that the bus was going to continue to proceed through the intersection despite her approach? Vague references to Mr. Vawter's speed calculations based on assumptions are exactly the type of evidence that this Court has declined to find relevant to the determination of proximate cause as it relates to motor vehicle speed. *Id.*; *Theonnes*, 37 Wn. App. at 648-49.

2. Alternatively, even if the trial court was correct to give the contributory negligence instruction, it should have included Plaintiff's proposed Instruction 15 when that instruction explained the juxtaposition of contributory negligence, reasonable reaction time, and point of notice.

A trial judge's decision not to issue a jury instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 498, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). When the Washington Supreme Court reviews jury instructions, it looks to the jury instructions as a whole, with the primary purpose of allowing both parties to fairly state their case. *Rekhter v. State, Department of Social and Health Services*, 86822-1 (2014) (citing *Gammon v. Clark Equip. Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 613, 616-18, 707 P.2d 685 (1985)) (finding that the trial court's did not abuse its discretion because both parties were able to fairly state their theories of the case).

The jury in this case did not have the benefit of a full understanding of the relevant duties of the favored driver. The complete duties of the favored and disfavored drivers must be presented to the jury in order for the jury to make an accurate determination of a breach of those duties. *Poston v. Mathers*, 77 Wn.2d

329, 333-334, 462 P.2d 222 (1969). Because speed as contributory negligence in an auto accident places very specific duties on the driver, those duties must be defined clearly for the jury and include reasonable reaction time. *See, Id.* at 336 (finding reversible error in an instruction on contributory negligence that does not include reasonable reaction time); *Bowers*, 170 Wn. App. at 506.

The problem posed by the failure to instruct on respondent's duty is not difficult to describe. Neither negligence nor contributory negligence exists in the abstract. If the jury was not properly instructed and was unaware of the duty which respondent breached, it was unable to determine rationally if appellant's breach of his related duty contributed to the cause of the accident.

Poston, 77 Wn.2d at 333-34.

No instruction was given to the jury regarding the consideration of reasonable reaction time or point of notice. Ms. Tinnon proposed the following instruction:

...

The favored driver is, however, entitled to reasonable reaction time after it becomes apparent, in the exercise of due care, that the disfavored driver will not yield the right of way. It is not sufficient to attempt to prove comparative negligence on the part of the favored driver by means of split-second computations of time, speed and/or distance.

CP 31, Plaintiff's Proposed Instruction 15 (emphasis added).

During colloquy regarding the jury instructions, counsel for Ms. Tinnon explained that the proposed instructions fully informed the jury of the duties of the respective parties and was cut off by the trial judge when attempting to explain reasonable reaction time.

And that apparently informs the jury of the duties of the respective parties, and it allows me to argue my theory of the case.

RP VII, p. 12, II. 12-14.

And I would just like to note, Your Honor, the issues down below, the favored driver is entitled to reasonable reaction time --

RP VII, p. 13, II. 8-10.

While some of the trial court's instructions did explain that any negligence of the plaintiff must be the proximate cause of the collision, the court did not instruct on the method of determining proximate cause that is specific to this type of contributory negligence claim. CP 62, 65-66. This left open to the jury that speed alone is contributory negligence. This was further aggravated when the trial court added a duty not to speed instruction without giving the counter balancing point of notice instruction. CP 72.

The jury instructions, considered as a whole, allowed the jury to find no negligence on behalf of the bus driver on possibly the issue of speed alone. The jury was not given all of the relevant duties of the favored driver, and thus, Ms.

Tinnon could not effectively argue her theory of the case. Because of this substantial prejudicial error, Ms. Tinnon respectfully requests that she be granted a new trial.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The verdict in this case supports a showing that putting the issue of contributory negligence to the jury, or alternatively, a failure to properly instruct the jury with how to consider any evidence of contributory negligence, was prejudicial to Ms. Tinnon's claim. Therefore, Ms. Tinnon respectfully requests that the Court reverse and remand this case for a new trial with instructions on how contributory negligence should be applied, if at all, to this case.