FILED GURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2014 SEP 12 PM 3: 35

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY BEDUTY

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEANN I. TINNON,

Appellant,

VS.

WHITE RIVER SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

NO: 45934-5-II

APPELLANT'S RESPONSE TO RESPONDENT'S MOTION ON THE MERITS TO AFFIRM

## I. <u>IDENTITY OF PARTY</u>

Appellant, Deann Tinnon, respectfully requests the relief sought in part II.

### II. RELIEF REQUESTED

Appellant respectfully requests that the motion on the merits to affirm be denied and any applicable sanctions associated with this motion be resolved in favor of the appellant.

### III. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF AND ARGUMENT

- 1. The Motion on the Merits to Affirm Should Be Denied Because
  Both Issues Raised by the Appellant Have Merit and Are
  Supported By Both Facts and Relevant Case Law.
  - a. None of the case law cited by the respondent is relevant or controlling to the issues in this case.

The respondent grossly misrepresented the applicability and relevance of medical malpractice standards to this case. Washington courts do not apply the rule, developed for medical malpractice cases, that a finding of no negligence for the respondent bars an appeal on contributory negligence in an automobile case of this nature. The reason for this is apparent with the application of the only logical conclusion in a disfavored driver/favored driver collision such as presented by Ms. Tinnon: Someone is at fault. But for the negligence of a party, the collision could not have occurred under these facts. There is no claim in this case, and no testimony or facts presented at trial, relating to any other proximate cause of the collision other than negligence of the respondent or contributory negligence of the appellant. See generally, RP, CP. Unsurprisingly, this is the exact analysis from the Washington Supreme Court from a case discussing an intersection collision between a favored driver and disfavored driver—that truly is on point. Nelson v. Blake, 72 Wn.2d 652, 653, 434 P.2d 595 (1967) ("On this conflicting testimony, the trial court

submitted the issue of the favored driver's contributory negligence to the jury; and the jury, by its verdict for the defendant, of necessity must have found the favored driver contributorily negligent.") (emphasis added). The respondent here is asking the Court to make a ruling that flies in the face of common sense, logic, and controlling precedent.

The special verdict form does not support the repondent's suggestion that contributory negligence was not reached by the jury. *Respondent's Motion to Dismiss* at 7. The converse is true however, in that the special verdict form would prevent the jury from noting the only possible finding they had to come to in order to find no negligence on behalf of the respondent in this case. See CP 84.

Although the respondent did note that the cases cited by it were all medical practice cases, it is telling that the respondent offered <u>no</u> case law support for the contention that the medical malpractice standard should be applied universally. *Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Appeal* at 7. As recently as 2010, the Washington Supreme Court has held that factual circumstances dictate the appropriateness of contributory negligence errors when no negligence was found against the defendant. *See Gregoire* v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 244 P.3d 924 (2010) (finding that the instruction on contributory negligence to the jury was reversible error

in cases regarding prison suicides regardless of a verdict of no negligence against the defendant).

A simple walk through of the cases cited by the respondent reveals why the medical malpractice rule works in fact patterns that support no negligence on the part of any party involved. In Bertch, the Court looked at a medical malpractice claim on the issue of informed consent, so if the defendant was found not negligent, there was consent and there is no necessary contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff. Bertch v. Brewer, 97 Wn.2d 83, 640 P.2d 711 (1982). In Ford, the Court looked at a medical malpractice question on the issue of the potential failure to perform a follow up x-ray after surgery, so the finding of no negligence was in relation to the necessity of the x-ray and did not necessitate a finding of contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff. Ford v. Chaplin, 61 Wn. App. 896, 812 P.2d 532 (1991). In Crisp and in Bauman—premises liability and auto collision respectively—there was no application of the rule that contributory negligence errors are always harmless errors. See generally, Crisp v. Nursing Homes, Inc., 15 Wn. App. 599, 550 P.2d 718 (1976); Bauman v. Complita, 66 Wn.2d 496, 403 P.2d 347 (1965).

The only case that Appellant can find that applies the rule stated by respondent in any auto collision accident is an unpublished opinion from the Court of Appeals Division One. *Osborn v. Mathern*, 63232-9-I (2010) (unpublished). The Court applied the rule because the appellant in that case proposed and agreed to an emergency doctrine instruction which left open the avenue of a non-negligent finding against all parties. *Id.* 

b. The issue regarding the application of plaintiff's proposed instruction 15 is not a simply contributory negligence issue; rather, it is a question of the duties of the parties.

The question raised by the lack of plaintiff's proposed instruction 15, is whether the jury had full knowledge of the rights and duties of both drivers when determining fault for the collision. *See Brief of Appellant* at 12-15. The jury was not instructed on duties and rights of Ms. Tinnon. *Id.* As cited in Appellant's opening brief, the duty of the disfavored driver and favored drivers do not exist in a vacuum independent from each other. *Id.* at 13. The jury should have been instructed on the full duties and rights of each party in order to completely understand the corresponding duty and rights of the opposing party. *Id.* In this case, the jury was not instructed on the reasonable point of notice which is the precise point at which Ms. Tinnon had a duty to react to avoid the collision. *Id.* at 12-15. Until that point is reached, the duty rests on the disfavored driver to avoid the collision. If for any reason the Court decided to apply a medical

malpractice rule to contributory negligence in this case, the appellant would continue to require resolution on this separate issue of the duty instructions to the jury.

# 2. The appellant should be granted fees and costs associated with the respondent's motion to on the merits to affirm.

The gross misstatements and misrepresentations in the respondent's motion are a clear attempt to mislead the Court and cause undue expense and litigation during this appeal. Specifically, the appellant takes issue with the respondent's contention that Appellant should be sanctioned for not bringing medical malpractice standards to the attention of the Court. Respondent's Motion at 8-10. Expenses and attorney fees may be awarded as to a litigant whose opponent acts in bad faith when conducting litigation. *Delany v. Canning*, 84 Wn. App. 498, 510, 929 P.2d 475 (1997).

RAP 18.9 authorizes an award of terms or compensatory damages against a party who "uses these rules for the purposes of delay, files a frivolous appeal, or fails to comply with these rules...." In addition, CR 11 discourages filings that are not "well grounded in fact and ... warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law, and that [are] not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation." The rule permits a court to award sanctions, including expenses and attorney fees, to a litigant whose opponent acts in bad faith in instituting or conducting litigation. See Wilson v. Henkle, 45 Wn. App. 162, 174, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986).

Id. at 510.

The statement that the cases cited by respondent are "directly on point" and that those cases tell us that "any error by the trial court related to the issue of contributory negligence must be considered harmless because the jury never decided that issue" are completely false and, as shown above, contrary to established law. *Respondent's Motion on the Merits to Affirm* at 4. Additionally, the respondent demanded an award of attorney's fees as sanctions against Ms. Tinnon stating, "Both *Bertsch* and *Ford* are controlling authority for the rule that even if the trial court erred as Appellant contends, it was harmless error." *Id.* at 9-10. Again, a complete misstatement of the actual controlling authority in this case as discussed above. Therefore, Appellant respectfully requests that if any sanctions are awarded as a result of this unnecessary motion, they be in favor of Ms. Tinnon.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The respondent's misdirection to medical malpractice analysis is completely inapplicable to this case. There was negligence here by a party. It had to have been the favored driver or the disfavored driver, or logically, no collision would have occurred. In the absence of negligence, there must be an intervening proximate cause to a collision of this

particular nature. No intervening cause was plead or argued by either

party. The only applicable case law on point directly supports this

position.

Additionally, the appellant's argument on plaintiff's proposed jury

instruction 15 is an argument of relevant duties, not simple contributory

negligence as the respondent claimed. This issue standing alone supports

the appeal.

The appellant brought a claim with merit both factually and

supported by case law. Therefore, the appellant respectfully requests that

any award of sanctions in this case be resolved in favor of the appellant

and against the respondent.